The Journal of Basic & Applied Zoology (2013) 66, 68-75



The Egyptian German Society for Zoology

The Journal of Basic & Applied Zoology

www.egsz.org www.sciencedirect.com



reserved.

# Evaluation of cytotoxic effects of atrazine and glyphosate herbicides on *Biomphalaria glabrata* snails

Mohamed H. Mona<sup>a</sup>, Reda M. Gaafar<sup>b,\*</sup>, Ibrahim B. Helal<sup>a</sup>, Nahla E. Omran<sup>a</sup>, Wesam M. Salama<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Zoology Department, Faculty of Science, Tanta University, 31527 Tanta, Egypt

<sup>b</sup> Botany Department, Faculty of Science, Tanta University, 31527 Tanta, Egypt

Received 24 March 2013; revised 4 May 2013; accepted 21 May 2013 Available online 25 October 2013

# KEYWORDS

Genotoxic; Biomphalaria glabrata; Atrazine and glyphosate; Protein profiles; RAPD-PCR; Isozymes **Abstract** *Biomphalaria glabrata* snails were used as bio-indicators for freshwater, atrazine, and glyphosate herbicides. SDS–PAGE protein profiles of *B. glabrata* snails, isozyme analysis ( $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -esterase, peroxidase and catalase) and RAPD-PCR were used to detect the genotoxicity caused by the two tested herbicides. SDS–PAGE protein profiles showed bands with different molecular weights (53–220 and 1.82–12.5 KDa). The low molecular weight bands appeared in all treated groups except those exposed to 5 ppm glyphosate for 3 weeks. Isozyme analysis revealed three zones of activity (loci), in both  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -esterase. On the other hand, peroxidase and catalase showed one locus with different band intensities. Of six arbitrary 10-mer primers, only three primers gave detectable amplifications. A 500 bp band was generated by OPA-10 in all treated groups except in the control and in 5 and 10 ppm atrazine-exposed groups for 2 weeks. A diagnostic band with 400 bp was observed only in 10 ppm atrazine treated group for 3 weeks. Our results indicated that those atrazine and glyphosate herbicides may be considered to be highly genotoxicant agents. © 2013 The Egyptian German Society for Zoology. Production and hosting by Elsevier B.V. All rights

# Contents

Introduction	69
Materials and methods	69
Snails	69

\* Corresponding author. Fax: +20 40 3350804.

E-mail address: redagaafar@gmail.com (R.M. Gaafar).

Peer review under responsibility of The Egyptian German Society for Zoology.



2090-9896 © 2013 The Egyptian German Society for Zoology. Production and hosting by Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jobaz.2013.05.004

Toxicity experiments	69
Protein and isozyme analysis.	69
DNA analysis	70
Statistical and data analysis	71
Results	71
SDS-PAGE protein analysis	71
Isozyme analysis	72
RAPD analysis	72
Discussion.	73
References.	74

## Introduction

Herbicides, specifically made for weed control, composed of a heterogeneous family of chemical products. They can purposely or indirectly reach aquatic ecosystems, through soil surface run off or from areas where they are applied (Tanguy et al., 2005).

*Biomphalaria glabrata* snails are vulnerable to various aquatic pollutants from agricultural or industrial wastes. Those pollutants include herbicides such as atrazine, diurons, isoproturon, simazine, alachlor, metolachlor, and recently glyphosate (Tanguy et al., 2005).

The pollutants, especially herbicides, can disturb the aquatic organisms at the cellular, physiological and molecular levels (Fournier et al., 2000). Although, studies regarding the biological effects of herbicides have increased over the last years, the results on the genotoxicity of these products are often incomplete and sometimes contradictory (Siu et al., 2008). The genotoxic effects of pollutants can be monitored using vivo tests. Micronuclei test and comet assay are the most widely utilized tests in genotoxic evaluations, mainly because of the sensitivity of both in detecting DNA damage and their rapid performance (Dimitrov et al., 2006).

In Egypt, the two herbicides, atrazine and glyphosate are usually used. They are utilized under the commercial names Atrazex and Herfosat, respectively. The glyphosate-based herbicides are most often applied and their utilization increased in the period of 2000–2004 (Battaglin et al., 2005).

Isozyme analysis may be used as a bio-marker assay for molecular changes occurred in organisms exposed to the environmental stress such as accumulation of pollutants (Zadory and Muller, 1981). De Wolf et al. (2003) demonstrated that toxic compounds may interfere with the genetic constitution of populations, either directly through mutagenic activity, or indirectly via population-mediated processes.

The RAPD-PCR technique is considered to be a useful tool to assess toxicological population genetic effects of environmental chemical stress, particularly since this technique is relatively inexpensive and yields information on a large number of loci without having to obtain sequence data (Vernon et al., 1995). Conte et al. (1998) showed that RAPD-PCR can be used to evaluate how the environmental pollutants modify the structure of DNA in living organisms. These modifications in DNA structure based on band intensity gain/loss and band numbers are compared with the control (Atienzar and Jha, 2006).

The aim of this work was to evaluate the genotoxic effects in *B. glabrata* snails exposed to herbicides atrazine and glyphosate using SDS–PAGE protein profiles, isozyme assay, and RAPDs.

## Materials and methods

## Snails

Adult *B. glabrata* snails with shell 8-10 mm diameter were from the Schistosomiasis Biological Supply Center (SBSC), Theodor Bilharz Research Institute, Giza, Egypt. Prior to the toxicity experiments, the snails were acclimated for 4 weeks to the laboratory conditions (pH =  $7.4 \pm 0.2$  and  $T = 27 \pm 2$  °C) in plastic containers with dechlorinated tap water under constant aeration.

## Toxicity experiments

Serial dilutions were prepared from atrazine and glyphosate to determine the sub-lethal concentration. The snails were fed on dried lettuce leaves, *B. glabrata* snails were exposed to sub-lethal concentration for 3 weeks and their feeding continued during the toxicity tests.

The snails were separated into five groups with 15 snails each. The 1st and 2nd groups were exposed to 5 and 0.5 ppm of glyphosate for 3 weeks, respectively. The 3rd and 5th groups were exposed to 10 and 5 ppm of atrazine for 3 weeks, respectively. One negative control group (5th group), exposed only to dechlorinated water was used. The contaminated water was renewed every three days.

### Protein and isozyme analysis

Total protein contents were extracted from 0.02 g of either the exposed or the control snail tissues using 200 µl of 0.1 M Trisbuffer (pH = 7.5) containing EDTA (0.01 M), KCl (0.01 M), MgCl<sub>2</sub> (0.1 M) and 4% polyvinyl pyrrolidine (PVP). Tissue homogenates were centrifuged at 8050g for 20 min at 4 °C (Sigma 3K18 cooling centrifuge). The protein extract was then transferred into a fresh eppendorff tube and used directly for electrophoresis or kept at -20 °C until use (Gottlieb, 1981). SDS–PAGE analysis was performed on 12% polyacrylamide gel according to Laemmli (1970). 25 µl of the protein extract was mixed with equal volume of SDS-sample buffer and heated in a boiling water bath for 3 min. 25 µl of the boiled mixture was loaded onto gels. Electrophoresis was carried out at a constant current of 25 mA/gel.

Four isozymes  $\alpha$ -esterase ( $\alpha$ -Est),  $\beta$ -esterase ( $\beta$ -Est), peroxidase (Per) and catalase (Cat) were examined on 10% acrylamide separating gel (Laemmli, 1970), on a native without SDS. 25 µl aliquots of the total protein extract were electrophoresed on 10% vertical slab polyacrylamide gels using 15 mA/gel at low temperature for approximately 2 h. All the electrophoresis analyses were done using Cole-Parmer; model SE 400, vertical slab electrophoresis apparatus. Native gels were stained for the desired enzymes according to the protocols described by Soltis et al. (1983). After gel staining, bands were observed and the relative mobility (Rf) of each band was calculated. Bands having very close values of electrophoretic mobility (Rf) were grouped as members of a distinct zone (locus, Pasteur et al., 1988).

# DNA analysis

Random amplified polymorphic DNA-polymerase chain reaction (RAPD-PCR) was used to study the impact of sub-lethal concentrations of the two herbicides (glyphosate and atrazine) on genotoxicity of *B. glabrata* snails. DNA was extracted from the whole snail of control and exposed groups using genomic DNA purification kit (Ferments, Germany). Six 10-mer random primers (OPA-10, OPD-10, OPK-18, OPS-02, OPAJ-05 and OPAV-18 (Metabion, Germany) were used for RAPD analysis. DNA templates were adjusted to 250 ng per 5  $\mu$ l. The amplification reaction was performed in 16  $\mu$ l reaction volume and in sterile 0.2 ml PCR tubes. The following PCR program was used: 1 cycle of 94 °C for 3 min, followed by 94 °C for 1 min, 37 °C for 1 min, and 72 °C for 1 min, the last three steps were repeated for 36 cycles and a final extension step at 72 °C for 10 min. Amplification was carried out in a Bio-Rad gene cycler (Bio-Rad, USA) and PCR fragments were



**Fig. 1** (A and B) SDS–PAGE illustrating protein bands of control and treated snails with either glyphosate or atrazine during 3 weeks. A: lane 1: protein extract from control snails after zero day, lane 2: control snail after 1 week, lane 3:5 ppm glyphosate-exposed groups after 1 week, lane 4: 0.5 ppm glyphosate-exposed groups after 1 week, lane 5: 10 ppm atrazine-exposed groups after 1 week, lane 6: 5 ppm atrazine-exposed groups after 1 week, lane 7: control snails after 2 weeks, lane 8: 5 ppm glyphosate-exposed groups after 2 weeks, lane 9: 0.5 ppm glyphosate-exposed groups after 2 weeks. B: lane 10: 10 ppm atrazine-exposed groups after 2 weeks, lane 11: 5 ppm atrazine-exposed groups after 2 weeks, lane 12: control snails after 3 weeks, lane 13: 5 ppm glyphosate-exposed groups after 3 weeks, lane 14: 0.5 ppm glyphosate-exposed groups after 3 weeks, lane 15: 10 ppm atrazine-exposed groups after 3 weeks, lane 16: 5 ppm atrazine-exposed groups after 3 weeks, lane 12: control snails after 3 weeks, lane 13: 5 ppm glyphosate-exposed groups after 3 weeks, lane 14: 0.5 ppm glyphosate-exposed groups after 3 weeks, lane 15: 10 ppm atrazine-exposed groups after 3 weeks, lane 16: 5 ppm atrazine-exposed groups after 3 weeks, lane 14: 0.5 ppm glyphosate-exposed groups after 3 weeks, lane 15: 10 ppm atrazine-exposed groups after 3 weeks, lane 16: 5 ppm atrazine-exposed groups after 3 weeks. (C)  $\alpha$ -Esterase zymogram of control and either glyphosate or atrazine-exposed snails, indicating 3 zones of activity. Lanes 1, 2, 7 and 12: control snails after zero day, one, two, and three weeks respectively. Lanes 3, 4, 5 and 6:5 and 0.5 ppm glyphosate and 10 and 5 ppm atrazine exposed for 1 week. Lanes 8, 9, 10 and 11: same treatments after 2 weeks. Lanes 13, 14, 15 and 16: same treatments after 3 weeks. (D) Peroxidase zymogram of control and either glyphosate or atrazine-exposed snails indicating one zone of activity.



Fig. 1 (continued)

run on 1.5% agarose gels and visualized using UV Transilluminator (Bio-Rad, USA). The molecular weight (bp) of each band was compared with those of the standard DNA molecular markers (Fermentes, Germany).

# Statistical and data analysis

In case of SDS protein analysis, the protein bands produced by each sample were counted and their relative mobilities (Rfs) were compared with those of the standard protein molecular marker. The intensities of the protein bands of each sample (lane) protein profile were measured using Gel-Pro Analyzer version 4.0 for windows (Media Cybernetics, Inc.).

# Results

# SDS-PAGE protein analysis

Three bands (220, 76, and 12.5 KDa) were common in control and in all treated groups, while in 5 ppm glyphosate-exposed snails, the last two bands (76 and 12.5 KDa) disappeared

and 60 KDa band appeared (Table 2 and Fig. 1B, lane 13). Protein bands 116, 113, 104, 53, 9, 3.68, 2.53, and 1.82 KDa appeared in 5 ppm glyphosate-exposed snails only after 1 week (Fig. 1A and lane 3), while appearance of 45 KDa band was characteristic to the remaining groups (Table 2 and Fig. 1A, lanes 4–6). In addition, the band 205 KDa was found only in both concentrations (5 and 10 ppm) of atrazine-exposed snails. Meanwhile, 10 ppm atrazine-exposed snails exhibited an extraband 166 KDa after 2 weeks of treatment. After 3 weeks, 166, 76, 12.5, and 9 KDa appeared in all groups except 5 ppm

Table 1 Primer sequences and their G/C content used for RAPD-PCR.

Ran D I CR	•	
Primer	Sequence	G/C content (%)
OPA-10	5'-GTGATCCCAG-3'	60
OPD-10	5'-GGTCTACACC-3'	60
OPK-18	5'-CCTAGTCGAG-3'	60
OPS-02	5'-CCTCTGACTG -3'	60
OPAJ-05	5'-CAGCGTTGCC-3'	70
OPAV-18	5'-TTGCTCACGG-3'	60

glyphosate-exposed snails. 5 ppm atrazine-exposed snails were characteristic by the presence of low molecular weight bands of 5.8 and 2.53 KDa (Table 2 and Fig. 1B). Band intensity analysis revealed that there were differences in band intensity among all treated groups. For example, 220 KDa band was observed in all groups, but its intensity varied between groups during the 3 weeks of exposure. As mentioned above, the 76 and 12.5 KDa bands were observed in most groups but showed high intensity in lanes 2, 8, 9, 10, 12 and 16.

## Isozyme analysis

Esterase isozyme revealed three loci ( $\alpha$ -Est-1,  $\alpha$ -Est-2 and  $\alpha$ -Est-3), two loci showed strong activity while the third one had faint activity (Fig. 1C).  $\alpha$ -Est-1 was represented with three bands or three co-dominant alleles, except for both concentrations 10 and 5 ppm of atrazine after 1 week of exposure, 5 ppm glyphosate and 5 ppm atrazine after 3 weeks of exposure (Fig. 1C, lanes 13 and 16) which exhibited two bands in that locus. Monoallelic locus represented in  $\alpha$ -Est-2, whereas there is one band observed only in 5 ppm glyphosate and 5 ppm atrazine exposed snails after 3 weeks (lanes 13 and 16). The  $\alpha$ -Est-3 locus was monomorphic, which specified by one band that is very intense at the last group, 5 ppm atrazine after 3 weeks (lane 16). Similarly,  $\beta$ -esterase showed three loci  $\beta$ -Est1,  $\beta$ -Est2, and  $\beta$ -Est3 with the same band patterns have been observed in case of  $\alpha$ -esterase.

The peroxidase enzyme showed only one locus (Per-1) which was polymorphic (Fig. 1D) where one band was observed in each lane, except lanes 12 and 13 which represent control and 5 ppm glyphosate groups after 3 weeks, showed two bands (with Rf values of 0.111 and 0.129). In contrast, catalase was monomorphic, only band (observed in control after 1 week, 5 ppm glyphosate, 10 ppm atrazine exposed snails after 1 week of exposure and also observed after 3 weeks in both the control group and 5 ppm glyphosate-exposed snails) appeared with varied intensities between groups.

# RAPD analysis

Genotoxicity of long-term exposure to glyphosate and atrazine herbicides was conducted by RAPD-PCR using six arbitrary 10-mer primers OPA-10, OPD-10, OPK-18, OPS-02, OPAJ-05 and OPAV-18 (Table 1). The snail groups exposed to three herbicide concentrations (5 ppm glyphosate, 5 ppm, and 10 ppm atrazine), which showed considerable changes in the protein pattern compared with the control, were selected for DNA extraction and RAPD-PCR analysis. Only one amplified fragment of 500 bp could be generated by OPA-10 primer using DNA extracted from herbicide-treated snails after 1 and 3 weeks of exposure to 5 ppm glyphosate (lanes 2 and 7) and 5, 10 ppm atrazine (Fig. 2A). The 500 bp band also appeared in case of snails treated with 5 ppm glyphosate after 2 week exposure (lane 4). There was no PCR product obtained with the control group or with both concentrations of atrazine after 2 weeks of exposure (Fig. 2A).

OPAJ-05 amplified two PCR products of 850 and 650 bp (Fig. 2B) in case of the control group, 5 ppm glyphosate (lanes 1 and 2) and 10 ppm atrazine-exposed snails after one and 3 weeks of exposure (lanes 3 and 8). 300 bp was characteristic to 10 ppm atrazine-exposed snails after one and 3 weeks of

Table 2	Molecui	lar weig	hts of pr	otein bands	of B. glabra	ata after 1	week (la	nes 1–6), 2	weeks (lan	es 7–11) and	l 3 weeks	of herbic	ide treatmei	nts (lanes 1	2–16).		
Band No	. Lane	1	2	3	4	5	9	7	8	6	10	11	12	13	14	15	9
	Marker	Contro.	Contro	l 5 ppm	0.5 ppm	10 ppm	5 ppm	Control (2)	5 ppm	0.5 ppm	10 ppm	5 ppm	Control (3)	5 ppm	0.5 ppm	10 ppm	
	(KDa)	zero	(1)	Glyphosate	e Glyphosate	Atrazine	Atrazine		Glyphosate	cilyphosate	Atrazine	Atrazine		Glyphosate	Glyphosate	Atrazine .	Atrazine
1	220	220	220	220	220	220	220	220	220	220	220	220	220	220	220	220	20
7	I	1	I	I	I	I	I		I	I	205	205	1	I	205	1	
3	170	170	170	1	1	I	I	170	170	170	170	170	170	170	I	1	70
4	I	I	I	I	I	I	I		I	I	166	I	I	I	166	166	.66
5	116	116	116	116	I	I	I	116	116	116	116	I	116	Ι	116	1	16
9	I	113	113	113	I	I	I	113	113	113	113	113	113	I	113	1	13
7	I	104	104	104	I	I	I		I	I	I	I	1	I	I	1	
8	76	76	76	76	76	76	76	76	76	76	76	76	76	Ι	76	. 92	9,
6	I	I	I	I	I	I	I		Ι	I	I	I	I	60	I	1	
10	53	Ι	53	53	I	I	1		53	53	53	53	53	Ι	53		33
11	I	45	I	I	45	45	45	45	45	45	45	45	45	I	45	7 -	5
12		12.5	12.5	12.5	12.5	12.5	12.5	12.5	12.5	12.5	12.5	12.5	12.5	Ι	12.5	12.5	2.5
13	I	I	I	6	I	I	I	1	6	6	9	6	6	I	6	9	-
14	I	1	6.75	6.75	6.75	I	I		6.75	6.75	6.75	6.75	6.75	I	I	6.75	5.75
15	I	Ι	Ι	1	I	I	I	1	I	I	Ι	I	5.8	Ι	I		8.8
16	Ι	Ι	I	3.68	I	Ι	I	I	3.98	3.98	3.98	3.98	3.68	I	I	3.68	68
17	I	Ι	I	2.53	I	I	1		2.53	2.53	2.53	2.53	1	Ι	1		.53
18	I	I	I	1.82	I	I	I	1.82	1.82	1.82	1.82	1.82	1.82	I	1.82	1	.82



**Fig. 2** RAPD profiles of different groups of *B. glabrata* genomic DNA represents PCR products with primer (A) OPA-10, (B) OPAJ-05 and (C) OPAV-18. Lane M: DNA marker (bp). Lane N: negative control without DNA template. Lane 1: DNA extracted from control snails. Lanes 2 and 3: DNA extract from 5 ppm glyphosate and 10 ppm atrazine-exposed groups after 1 week of exposure respectively. Lanes 4–6: DNA extracted from 5 ppm glyphosate, 10 and 5 ppm atrazine-exposed groups after 2 weeks of exposure. Lanes 7–9: DNA extracted from 5 ppm glyphosate, 10 and 5 ppm atrazine-exposed groups after 3 weeks of exposure.

exposure (lanes 3 and 8). A unique 400 bp PCR product with the same herbicide concentration after 3 weeks was observed (lane 8). OPAV-18 primer amplified 850, 650, and 300 bp PCR products of snails exposed to 5 ppm glyphosate for 2 weeks (Fig. 2C, lane 4). OPD-10, OPK-18, and OPS-02 primers generated no PCR products with the DNAs of all herbicide-treated groups.

### Discussion

The SDS–PAGE results of this study were in accordance with Fryer et al. (1989) and Richard and Renwrantz (1991), where *B. glabrata* snail responded to pollution with herbicide gain and/or loss of some bands and variation in their intensities. In our study, the band 205 KDa, which is present in both

concentrations of atrazine-exposed snails, might be similar to group (I) molecules (G1M, 200 KDa on SDS–PAGE gels) that appeared in *B. glabrata* following infection by *Echinostome paraensei* (Adema et al., 1999). In addition, the band 60 KDa, which is characteristic to 5 ppm glyphosate-exposed snails after 3 weeks of exposure, in the current study, is similar to 65 KDa appeared following of snails' infection with the same previous parasite (Adema et al., 1999).

Presence of low molecular weight bands (1.82–12.5 KDa) may be due to damage of protein–complex structure with high molecular weights as a result of Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS) release under the effect of herbicide exposure (Charlet et al., 1996; Hoffmann et al., 1996; Hubert et al., 1996; Ganz and Lehrer, 1998).

In this study, disappearance of band in Est-3 in most of snails exposed to the herbicide concentrations may be because herbicides perhaps act as activators of the gene that control the suppression or switching off this locus which agreed with Narang and Narang (1975). Hydrolytic activity of esterases or what is called detoxifying mechanism is crucial for protecting genetic material against toxic substances (Argentine and James, 1995). In the present study, perhaps similar mechanisms of the function of esterases could be postulated.

Catalase activity was restricted only to the treated groups for 1 and 2 weeks and this may be due to variations of ROS release from hemocytes during this period. Therefore, catalase is responsible for antioxidant mechanisms where catalase reduces hydrogen peroxide content (Kristoff et al., 2008). Therefore, it can be postulated that, the catalase, and peroxidase enzymes may be selected as molecular markers to study the herbicide effects due to their role in detoxifying  $H_2O_2$  generated under normal and stress conditions.

In the RAPD-PCR analysis, the major observation in RAPD profiles was the appearance of single band with 500 bp in all groups except control and both concentrations of atrazine-exposed groups for 2 weeks, with primer (OPA-10). This band varied in its intensity and the differences in RAPD-PCR band intensity are due to primer mismatch or relative sequence abundance (Williams et al., 1990). On the contrary, Lee et al. (2007) found same intensities for band patterns for most of 10-mer primers when studying DNA damage induced by arsenite.

Furthermore, a unique band of 400 bp may be considered as a diagnostic marker which can attribute to 3 weeks of exposure to 10 ppm atrazine with the same primer (Hassan and Alam, 2007). This is consistent with the recent study of the appearance of a new diagnostic band which may be due to long time of exposure (3 weeks) to a high concentration of atrazine (Abbas and Ali, 2007).

Modifications of the RAPD patterns in treated groups can be due to changes in primer binding sites, structural changes due to DNA damage under the effect of herbicides exposure. These effects in DNA, probably due to an increase of free radical activity or free radical life span in organisms following exposure to herbicides and could deteriorate antioxidant defensive system by Reactive Oxygen Species (Lai and Singh, 2004; Lee et al., 2004; Guier et al., 2006).

Finally, the results of the present study indicated that the investigated herbicides may be highly genotoxicants because of their toxic effects on DNA and proteins. These subsequent effects probably arise from DNA damage due to oxidative stress of these herbicides.

#### M.H. Mona et al.

## References

- Abbas, O.H., Ali, F.K., 2007. Study the effect of hexavalent chromium on some biochemical cytotoxicological and histopathological aspects of the *Oroechromis* sp. fish. Pak. J. Biol. Sci. 10, 3973–3982.
- Adema, C.M., Hertel, L.A., Loker, E.S., 1999. Evidence from two planorbid snails of a complex and dedicated response to digenean (echinostome) infection. Parasitology 119, 395–404.
- Argentine, J.A., James, A.A., 1995. Characterization of a salivary gland specific esterase in the vector mosquito, *Aedes aegypti*. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 25, 621.
- Atienzar, F.A., Jha, A.N., 2006. The random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) assay and related techniques applied to genotoxicity and carcinogenesis studies: a critical review. Mutat. Res. 613, 76– 102.
- Battaglin, W., Kolpin, D.W., Scribner, E.A., Kuivila, K.M., Sandstrom, M.W., 2005. Glyphosate, other herbicides and transformation products in Midwestern streams, 2002. J. Am. Water Resour. Assoc. 41, 323–332.
- Charlet, M., Chernysh, S., Philippe, H., Hetru, C., Hoffman, J.A., Bullet, P., 1996. Innate immunity isolation of several cystine-rich antimicrobial peptides from the blood of a mollusca, *Mytilus edulis*. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 21808–21812.
- Conte, C.C., Mutti, I., Puglisi, P., Ferrarini, A., Regina, G., Maestri, E., Manmiroli, N., 1998. DNA finerprinting analysis by a PCR based method for monitoring the genotoxic effects of heavy metals pollution. Chemosphere 37, 2739–2749.
- De Wolf, H., Blust, R., Backeljau, T., 2003. The use of RAPD in ecotoxicology. Mutat. Res. 566, 249–262.
- Dimitrov, B.D., Gadeva, P.G., Benova, D.K., Bineva, M.V., 2006. Comparative genotoxicity of the herbicides Roundup®, Stomp and Reglone in plant and mammalian test systems. Mutagenesis 21, 375–382.
- Fournier, M., Cyr, D., Blakley, B., Boermans, H., Brousseau, P., 2000. Phagocytosis as a biomarker of immunotoxicity in wildlife species exposed to environmental xenobiotics. Am. Zool. 40, 412–420.
- Fryer, S.E., Hull, C.J., Bayne, C.J., 1989. Phagocytosis of yeast by *B. glabrata* carbohydrate specifity of hemocyte receptors and a plasma opsonin. Dev. Comp. Immunol. 13, 9–16.
- Ganz, T., Lehrer, R.I., 1998. Antimicrobial peptides of vertebrates. Curr. Opin. Immunol. 10, 41–44.
- Gottlieb, L.D., 1981. Electrophoretic evidence and pant populations. Prog. Phytochem. 7, 1–46.
- Guier, G., Seyhan, N., Ariciglu, A., 2006. Effect of static and 50 Hz alternating electric fields on superoxide dismutase activity and TBARS levels in guinea pigs. Gen. Physiol. Biophys. 25, 177–193.
- Hassan, N.S., Alam, S., 2007. Genotoxcity and molecular changes of hemoglobin studies in rats exposed to 3 mT static magnetic field. J. Biol. Sci. 7, 1121–1129.
- Hoffmann, J.A., Reichart, J.M., Hetru, C., 1996. Innate immunity in higher insects. Curr. Opin. Immunol. 8, 8–13.
- Hubert, F., Noel, T., Roch, P., 1996. A member of the arthropod defensin family from edible Mediterranean mussels (*Mytilus* galloprovincialis). Eur. J. Biochem. 240, 302–306.
- Kristoff, G., Guerrero, N.R., Cochon, A.C., 2008. Effects of azinophos-methyl exposure on enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidant defenses in *B. glabrata* and *Lumbriculus variegates*. Chemosphere 72, 1333–1339.
- Laemmli, U.K., 1970. Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. Nature 227, 680–685.
- Lai, H., Singh, N.P., 2004. Magnetic Field induced DNA strand breaks in brain cells of the rat. Environ. Health Perspect. 112, 687– 694.
- Lee, B.C., Jahng, H.M., Lim, J.K., Jeong, J.H., Baik, K.U., Nam, T., 2004. Effect of extremely low frequency magnetic field on the antioxidant defense system in mouse brain: a chemilumininescence study. J. Photochem. Photobiol. 73, 43–48.

Lee, Y., Yang, V., Wang, T.-S., 2007. Use of RAPD to detect sodium arserite-induced DNA damage in human lymphoblastoid cells. Toxicology 239, 108–115.

- Narang, S., Narang, N., 1975. Alcohol dehdrogenase of *B. glabrata* genetic, analysis and interspecific variations. Biochem. Genet. 14, 75–86.
- Pasteur, N., Pasteur, G., Bonhomme, F., Calalane, J, Britton-Davidson, J., 1988. Practical Isozyme Genetics. The English Edition, Ellis Horwood Ltd., England.
- Richard, E.H., Renwrantz, L.R., 1991. Two lectins on the surface of *Helix pomatia* hemocytes: a Ca++-dependent, Gal Nac-specific lectin and a Ca++- independent, mannose 6-phosphate specific lectin which recognizes activated homologous opsonins. J. Comp. Physiol. B 161, 43–54.
- Siu, S.Y., Lam, P.K., Martin, M., Caldwell, C.W., Richardson, B.J., 2008. The use of selected genotoxicity assays in green-lipped mussel (*Perna viridis*): a validation study in Hong Kong coastal waters. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 57, 479–492.

- Soltis, D.E., Haufler, C.H., Dartow, D.C., Gastony, G.J., 1983. Starch gel electrophoresis of Fens: a complication of grinding buffers, gel and electrode buffers and staining schedules. Am. Fern. J. 73, 9–27.
- Tanguy, A., Boutet, I., Laroche, J., Moraga, D., 2005. Molecular identification and expression study of differentially regulated genes in the pacific oyster *Crassostrea gigas* in response to pesticide exposure. FEBS J. 272, 390–403.
- Vernon, J.C., Jones, C.S., Noble, L.R., 1995. Random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) markers reveal cross-fertilization in *B.* glabrata (pulmonata: Basmatophora). J. Moll. Stud. 61, 455–465.
- Williams, J.G.K., Kubelid, A.R., Livak, K.J., Rafalski, J.A., Tingey, S.V., 1990. DNA polymorphisms amplified by arbitrary primers are useful as genetic markers. Nucleic Acids Res. 18, 6531–6535.
- Zadory, L., Muller, P., 1981. Potential use of fresh water molluses for monitoring river pollution. Geo. J. 5, 433–445.